STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenwood County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HOWARD JAMES WOODS, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000775

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
SEP 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the judge abused his discretion by not enforcing his pre-trial indictment ruling, and by allowing testimony from the alleged victim that appellant sexually assaulted her when she was twelve years old, since these allegations were outside the time frame of the indictment which alleged acts between 14 and 16 years-old, and denied appellant his due process right to notice of the allegations he had to defend against?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the January 2017 term of the Greenwood County Grand Jury for the offenses of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 220-223. Appellant's case was called to trial on March 14, 2017, before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., and a jury. Jana Nelson and Jennifer Clinkscales represented appellant. Deputy solicitor Yates Brown and assistant solicitor Anna Sumner represented the state. R. 1.

On March 15, 2017, the jury found appellant not guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree. However, the jury convicted appellant on the charge of criminal sexual conduct in the second degree. R. 210, l. 20 – 211, l. 4. Judge Addy sentenced appellant to fifteen years' imprisonment. R. 219, ll. 3-13.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The judge abused his discretion by not enforcing his pre-trial indictment ruling, and by allowing testimony from the alleged victim that appellant sexually assaulted her when she was twelve years old, since these allegations were outside the time frame of the indictment which alleged acts between 14 and 16 years-old, and denied appellant his due process right to notice of the allegations he had to defend against.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to quash the indictments as overbroad. She complained that the discovery showed only one incident occurred on the first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge, yet that indictment covered a period of two years. Similarly, the indictment for criminal sexual conduct in the second degree covered a period of seven years. Defense counsel argued these indictments were overbroad and denied appellant his right to due process under the state and federal constitutions because he could not defend himself against such broad indictment time frames that conflicted with the discovery in the case. R. 4, 1. 20 – 6, 1. 5.

Indictments – notice of allegations

The judge agreed with defense counsel as to the time periods being confusing, and he stated that the state would be limited to only offering evidence within the strict time frames alleged in the indictments. The judge noted specifically on the indictment for criminal sexual conduct in the second degree that it alleged the victim was “14 but less than 16 years of age,” but alleged a broader time frame. The judge ruled that the indictment referenced the age frame as being between 14 to 16 years old, and that he was going to limit the state to evidence of that time frame. “That’s equitable, and it’s also exactly what Mr. Woods is indicted for. If a longer period

of time or a more broad period of time had been desired, then a different indictment should have been prepared or different charges should have been prepared.” R. 4, l. 20 – 10, l. 4. The judge denied the motion to quash but ruled the state could only present testimony against appellant that he was on notice for by way of the two indictments referenced above. R. 8, l. 19 – 9, l. 24.

As will be seen *infra*, the indictment for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree involved one incident where the alleged victim claimed at nine years old appellant blindfolded her and performed some unknown sexual act or oral sex on her. The jury acquitted appellant of this offense. The indictment for criminal sexual conduct in the second degree alleged appellant committed a sexual battery upon the alleged victim when she was at “least fourteen, but less than sixteen years of age.” R. 222 – 223.

Trial evidence

The complaining witness was twenty-two years old at the time of trial. She reported the sexual abuse she allegedly suffered as a child to the police when she was twenty-one. R. 26, ll. 7 – 17. She alleged the abuse stopped at 16, as will be seen *infra*, so there was a six year delay in the allegation to law enforcement.

Appellant was the complaining witness’s “stepfather,” although he never married her mother. “He pretty much watched me grow up from an infant until I was fifteen.” R. 26, ll. 18-20.

She alleged when she was nine years old that she twisted her ankle while getting on the school bus so her mother let her stay home. She said that she went to bed and went back to sleep. However, she claimed appellant woke her up, blindfolded her, and committed some sexual act upon her. At one point she alleged it must have been oral sex, but at other times she

admitted she did not know exactly what happened since she was blindfolded. As stated, appellant was found not guilty of that allegation. R. 26, l. 21 – 27, l. 8.

The complaining witness claimed she told her mother about the blindfold allegation. However, at other points she said her mother did not know anything about her sexual activity until she got pregnant at the age of fifteen. R. 29, ll. 10-14.

The allegation at 12 years old

The solicitor then inquired about an allegation of sexual abuse when the witness was twelve years old. Defense counsel repeated her earlier objection to any testimony of an assault “outside the time frame of the indictment.” Counsel had earlier argued that such allegations would violate appellant’s right to due process of law because he could not prepare to defend against them. A bench conference was held, and the judge overruled the defense objection despite his pretrial ruling on the indictment covering the ages of at least 14 years old but less than 16 years old. R. 30, l. 11 – 32, l. 22.

When the solicitor then asked the witness what happened specifically to her at the age of twelve, defense counsel renewed her objection. The judge again overruled the objection. R. 32, l. 23 – 33, l. 2. The witness then claimed that appellant had anal and sexual intercourse with her, and oral sex. R. 33, l. 7 – 34, l. 1. The witness also said the sexual acts would occur once or twice a week. R. 34, ll. 5-19.

Later in the trial, when investigator Sharon Middleton began to testify about the alleged victim stating “her menstrual cycle, and appellant “began having sexual intercourse with her -- defense counsel renewed her previous objection. The judge asked the solicitor to “[m]ove it along a little bit if we could, please,” in response to the objection. R. 93, l. 18 – 94, l. 8. The solicitor then asked: “How long did that continue?” Investigator Middleton said: “It continued

until she was 15 years old.” Middleton repeated the complaining witness’s allegations that appellant had sexual intercourse, anal intercourse, and oral sex with the alleged victim. R. 93, l. 18 – 94, l. 25. As stated, the complaining witness reported the alleged abuse to the police when she was twenty-one years old. R. 95, ll. 11-17.

There were inconsistencies in the alleged victim’s testimony, as defense counsel pointed out. For example, at one point, the alleged victim claimed her mother did not know about any of the allegations of sexual abuse until she was pregnant at 15, and at another point she said she told her mother about the blindfolded allegation at age nine before that time. R. 49, ll. 9-13.

Appellant continuously denies the allegations

On cross-examination of investigator Middleton, she admitted she got an arrest warrant for appellant based on the alleged victim’s allegations. R. 105, l. 18 – 135, l. 1.

Middleton went to appellant’s house and asked appellant to accompany her to the police station to talk. She was driving an unmarked car and she did not tell appellant that she had warrants for his arrest. Appellant agreed to go to the police station and talk. R. 106, l. 2 – 107, l. 6.

The interrogation was videotaped but Middleton did not tell appellant he was being taped. R. 107, ll. 3-18. Middleton admitted she was going to arrest appellant at the end of the conversation regardless of what he said. Appellant continuously denied the allegations. R. 107, l. 22 – 113, l. 16. Appellant denied he knew that the alleged victim was ever pregnant, and he denied knowing anything about her having an abortion. R. 112, l. 3 – 116, l. 12.

Middleton admitted that despite every technique she used, appellant continuously and consistently denied sexually abusing the complaining witness. Middleton acknowledged that she told appellant that everyone made mistakes, that he was not a bad person, that he was a good

person, and that he needed to admit the sexual abuse so the complaining witness would not commit suicide. R. 116, l. 1 – 122, l. 20.

The mother testifies

The alleged victim's mother, Cheryl Worsley, testified that appellant was her boyfriend of fifteen years, and he had the role of a stepfather to her daughter. Worsley said she trusted appellant to be alone with her daughter. R. 138, l. 19 – 139, l. 14.

Worsley claimed she found out appellant was “cheating on me” when her daughter was thirteen or fourteen years old, and she moved into an apartment with her daughter. She later learned that her daughter was pregnant when she was fifteen, and she alleged appellant went with her and her daughter to Augusta so her daughter could have an abortion. Worsley said appellant paid for the abortion. R. 141, l. 5 – 144, l. 3.

The records custodian for the facility where the abortion was performed admitted appellant's name did not appear anywhere in the records, including as the person who paid for the abortion. R. 136, l. 13 – 137, l. 6.

Worsley acknowledged that appellant denied that he had sex with her daughter, which caused her daughter to become pregnant. R. 143, ll. 1-12. Worsley admitted she allowed appellant to continue to live with her and her daughter for two or three weeks after the abortion where her daughter had alleged appellant got her pregnant. R. 143, ll. 13-23.

Discussion

“An indictment is a critical document in criminal defense preparation that is grounded in constitutional and statutory principles. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 (“No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate's court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been

committed....”); S.C. Code Ann. § 17–19–10 (2014) (“No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury....”). As we explained in State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005):

The indictment is the charge of the state against the defendant, **the pleading by which he is informed of the fact, and the nature and scope of the accusation**. When that indictment is presented, that accusation made, that pleading filed, the accused has two courses of procedure open to him. He may question the propriety of the accusation, the manner in which it has been presented, the source from which it proceeds, and have these matters promptly and properly determined; or, waiving them, he may put in issue the truth of the accusation, and demand the judgment of his peers on the merits of the charge. If he omits the former, and chooses the latter, he ought not, when defeated on the latter,—when found guilty of the crime charged,—to be permitted to go back to the former, and inquire as to the manner and means by which the charge was presented.

Id. at 102, 610 S.E.2d at 499–500 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

If a defendant raises a timely challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment, the reviewing court is charged with:

determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, **and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer** and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged.

Gentry, 363 S.C. at 102–03, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (emphasis added).” State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 588–589, 769 S.E.2d 860, 863 (2015).

In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all surrounding circumstances. Here, as defense counsel correctly argued, the discovery was a surrounding circumstance. See State v. Tumbleston, 373 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct. App. 2007). The defendant should not be

taken by surprise, and unable to combat the charges against him. State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1981).

Here, while the trial judge refused to quash the indictments as being overbroad, he agreed they were confusing, and he ruled that the state would be limited to presenting evidence on the allegations contained in the indictments in strict terms. The state could have sought another indictment the judge correctly observed. The judge ruled it was only fair and “equitable” to rule in this manner. The indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree was limited to allegations that occurred when the alleged victim was at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen. That was the pre-trial ruling limiting the state to the strict terms of the indictment.

Yet the state’s first witness, the alleged victim, was allowed to testify that at the age of twelve, appellant had sexual intercourse and anal intercourse with her, and he also had oral sex with her. These allegations, which were not contained in the indictment, were devastating, and their enormous prejudicial effect should respectfully be apparent to appellant’s defense.

The testimony of Investigator Sharon Middleton reveals she had arrest warrants for appellant when she picked him up at his house and asked him to come to the police station to talk about the allegations. Appellant was not aware of the arrest warrants, and he was not aware that he was being videotaped. Yet, appellant voluntarily talked to Middleton, and he continuously and consistently denied the allegations. He denied knowing the alleged victim was pregnant, and he denied knowing she had an abortion. Middleton acknowledged she used various tactics to attempt to get appellant to consent, but appellant was steadfast that the allegations the alleged victim made to the police when she was twenty-one years old about the childhood sexual abuse by him were not true. R. 106 – 121.

The state intentionally prejudiced appellant -- outside the indictments -- by offering allegations from the alleged victim that appellant had anal sex with her when she was twelve-years-old as well as sexual intercourse and oral sex.

Defense counsel correctly argued that offering evidence outside that for which appellant was on notice from the indictments would violate his right to due process because of lack of notice. The judge would not quash the indictments but he ruled the state would be limited to the strict allegations in the indictment. Here the meant to allegations when the alleged victim was between the ages of 14 and 16 years old as for the indictment for criminal sexual conduct in the second degree. R. 222 – 223.

Appellant had absolutely no notice of these allegations that he anally raped and had sexual intercourse and oral sex with the alleged victim when she was twelve years old. This testimony was simply “thrown out” on direct examination during the state’s case-in-chief. The judge erred by not enforcing his pre-trial ruling, and sustaining the objections.

The state correctly made no argument that this objectionable testimony was admissible as a prior bad act. The evidence of it was not clear and convincing, and even if the evidence of it was clear and convincing, the probative value of these allegations of anal and other intercourse at age twelve was substantially outweighed by its danger of unfair prejudice to appellant. See State v. Beck, 342 S.C. 129, 135-136, 563 S.E.2d 679, 682-683 (2000); State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007); State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 541 S.E.2d 833 (2001); Rule 403, SCRE; Rule 404(b), SCRE.

There were inconsistencies in the alleged victim’s allegations as pointed out by defense counsel in her closing argument, and seen. These included allegations that her mother would leave unexpectedly at night time and appellant would sneak in her room and have sex with her,

whether appellant was even living in the same household when she alleged he got her pregnant, the nature of the “blindfold” incident, and the number of sexual assaults she claimed occurred conflicted with the time frames in which they happened. See R. 172, l. 6 – 185, l. 12.

The jury verdict finding appellant guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor may well have been achieved by this evidence that was inadmissible since it was not in the indictment as the judge ruled that appellant had anal and sexual intercourse and oral sex *with his twelve year old “step daughter.”* He was acquitted on the “blindfold” sexual abuse allegation, which the jury did not believe, given its verdict. The objected-to evidence that was outside the age limits enumerated in the indictment denied appellant his right to due process by way of fair notice, and it also denied appellant a fair trial.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing argument, appellant's conviction should be reversed, and this case remanded to the Greenwood County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.



Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender