ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-000775

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

HOWARD JAMES WOODS, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
SEP 06 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County

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

When evaluating an indictment, the indictment shall be considered valid and sufficient if “the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer, and acquittal or conviction to be placed in bar to any subsequent conviction.” State v. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. 475, 477, 266 S.E.2d 61, 62 (1980); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (“Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.”). Importantly, “the true test of an

indictment's validity is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet." State v. Smalls, 336 S.C. 301, 307, 519 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 1999); see Gentry, 363 S.C. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500 ("[W]hether the indictment could be more definite or certain *is irrelevant*." (emphasis added)).

If a defendant makes a pre-trial challenge to the sufficiency or validity of an indictment, such a challenge raises "a question of whether a defendant properly received notice he would be tried for a particular crime." State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 96, 654 S.E.2d 849, 852 (Ct. App. 2007); see also State v. Garrett, 305 S.C. 203, 206, 406 S.E.2d 910, 911 (Ct. App. 1991) ("A motion to quash an indictment addresses the sufficiency of the indictment, not the sufficiency of the State's evidence."), overruled on other grounds by State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993). To answer that question, the trial judge must determine: (1) whether the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and to be able to make a decision as to whether to plead guilty or stand trial; and (2) whether the defendant is apprised of the elements of the offense intended to be charged. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 96-97, 654 S.E.2d at 852. In making such a determination, the trial judge must look to the indictment with a practical eye and examine the circumstances that existed prior to trial in order to determine whether the defendant was prejudiced in the sense that defendant was taken by surprise and unable to combat the charges against him as a result of the indictment. State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991). Critically, if an indictment satisfies the requisite conditions and, thus, is facially valid, the trial judge should deny the defendant's motion to quash or dismiss the indictment. See State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 371, 392 S.E.2d

181, 182 (1990) (holding a motion to dismiss an indictment was properly denied because the indictment was facially valid and instructing the validity of an indictment is not affected by the character of the evidence considered by the grand jury); see also Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (“[A]n indictment passes legal muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood.”).

Meanwhile, when a criminal defendant is indicted for a particular offense, evidence of the defendant’s prior bad acts is generally not admissible to prove his or her guilt for the charged crime. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 211, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006). That is true “because under our system of justice, a conviction must be based upon evidence of the offense for which the accused is on trial rather than upon prior criminal or immoral acts.” State v. Hough, 319 S.C. 104, 107, 459 S.E.2d 863, 865 (Ct. App. 1995). However, pursuant to our evidentiary rules, evidence of prior bad acts may be admissible “to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” Rule 404(b), SCRE; see State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 416, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923) (recognizing evidence of other crimes is competent to prove a charged offense if it tends to establish: (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) common scheme or plan; or (5) identity). Significantly, in sexual assaults cases in which evidence exists as to sexual acts committed by the defendant upon the same victim prior to or subsequent to the acts for the defendant is charged, evidence of such acts is generally admissible as common scheme or plan evidence “to show continued illicit intercourse between the same parties.” State v. Whitener, 228 S.C. 244, 265, 89 S.E.2d 701, 711 (1955); see State v. Richey, 88 S.C. 239, ___, 70 S.E. 729, 730 (1911) (“The testimony tended to show a continued illicit intercourse between the same parties in the home of the defendant,

covering the time alleged in the indictment, and under the rule stated was admissible.”); see also State v. Mathis, 359 S.C. 450, 464-465, 597 S.E.2d 872, 880 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding evidence of three prior incidents of sexual abuse that occurred prior to the incident for which Mathis was indicted was admissible because “the three prior incidents of sexual misconduct by Mathis show the same illicit conduct with the victim over the course of the nine months prior to September 2000”); cf. State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 156, 682 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2009) (“We find the trial judge properly admitted the proffered evidence of the four incidents of uncharged sexual misconduct committed by Clasby on B.C. prior to the June 1, 2004 offenses for which she was indicted and tried.”); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 469, 523 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 1999) (“We find Doe’s testimony regarding the pattern of sexual abuse he suffered by Weaverling to be quintessential common scheme or plan evidence.”).

Moreover, evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or bad acts may also properly be admitted if those acts form part of the *res gestae* of the charged offense. Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431, 435, 581 S.E.2d 834, 836 (2003). The *res gestae* theory recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of a charged crime or may be necessary to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred. State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005). Importantly, in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-371 (1996), our Supreme Court explained the *res gestae* theory:

One of the accepted bases for the admissibility of evidence of other crimes arises when such evidence furnishes part of the context of the crime or is necessary to a full presentation of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its environment that its proof is appropriate in order to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the *res gestae* or the uncharged offense is so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other . . . and is

thus part of the res gestae of the crime charged. And where evidence is admissible to provide this full presentation of the offense, there is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry by suppressing parts of the res gestae.

(citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted). Thus, where a prior bad act is “inextricably intertwined” with a charged offense, the evidence of the prior bad act is admissible as part of the res gestae of the crime. *Id.* at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 371; see *Wall v. State*, 500 S.E.2d 904, 907 (Ga. 1998) (“[E]vidence of the defendant’s prior acts toward the victim, be it a prior assault, a quarrel, or a threat, is admissible when the defendant is accused of a criminal act against the victim, as the prior acts are evidence of the relationship between the victim and the defendant and may show the defendant’s motive, intent, and bent of mind in committing the act against the victim which results in the charges for which the defendant is being prosecuted.”).

Notably, in *State v. Berry*, 413 S.C. 118, 123, 775 S.E.2d 51, 53 (Ct. App. 2015), this Court was confronted with a challenge to the admission of testimony related to sexual acts Berry committed against his victim that occurred outside the scope of the indictment.⁸ In that case, Berry began sexually abusing his victim when she fifteen years old, the sexual abuse was committed at least once a week for an extended period of time that continued for several months beyond the victim’s sixteenth birthday, and Berry was ultimately charged with second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor for the abuse committed prior to the victim reaching the age of sixteen. *Id.* at 121-122, 775 S.E.2d at 52-53. During trial, Berry unsuccessfully moved to suppress any testimony related to the sexual acts committed outside the scope of the indictment,

⁸ Following this Court’s decision in *Berry*, the Supreme Court granted a writ of certiorari, solely addressed an unrelated issue involving the admission of expert testimony, and affirmed as modified without discussing or altering the portion of this Court’s decision addressing the admission of the victim’s testimony regarding the acts committed outside the scope of the indictment. See *State v. Berry*, 418 S.C. 500, 504, 795 S.E.2d 26, 28 (2016) (affirming this Court’s decision while solely modifying a portion addressing an unrelated issue involving expert testimony).

was convicted, and appealed. Id. On appeal, Berry raised a number of contentions, including the contention the trial judge erred by admitting the testimony regarding the abuse that continued beyond the time span identified in the indictment. Id. at 125, 775 S.E.2d at 54. However, this Court found no error and affirmed. Id. at 126-127, 775 S.E.2d at 72. In affirming, this Court noted the victim's testimony about the subsequent acts of abuse "established the abuse occurred in the same manner and in the same locations as the conduct that formed the basis of the" charged offense. Id. at 125, 775 S.E.2d at 54. As a result, this Court concluded the trial judge properly admitted the testimony regarding the unindicted acts because it was "relevant, probative, and evidence of a common scheme or plan." Id. at 126-127, 775 S.E.2d at 55.

Similarly, in State v. L.P., 768 A.2d 795, 796 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2001), the New Jersey Superior Court addressed a challenge to the admission of testimony related to sexual acts L.P. committed against his victim, who was a minor at the time of the abuse and was twenty-five years old at the time of trial, that occurred prior to two specific and distinct periods of abuse that were alleged in an indictment. In that case, evidence was admitted during L.P.'s trial detailing incidents of sexual abuse that occurred years before the dates of the sexual abuse that led to the indicted charges. Id. at 802. After he was convicted, L.P. appealed, arguing—amongst other things—the trial judge erred by admitting evidence of the prior sexual assaults. Id. However, the Superior Court disagreed and affirmed. Id. at 803. In affirming, the Superior Court noted the testimony regarding the assaults that occurred prior to the time span identified in the indictment addressed "a continuing course of conduct against the same victim as she grew older" and found it "was critical to the jury's understanding of the facts and context of the crime." Id. at 801-802. Moreover, the Superior Court noted the exclusion of the evidence would have forced the victim to recall and differentiate between assaults occurring over a long span of time, which would have

been difficult for her to do in light of her young age at the time of the assaults coupled with the assaults' "regularity" and "frequency." Id. Accordingly, because "the assaults constituted a continuous unbroken chain of events that would [have been] most difficult and unnatural to separate," the Superior Court found the testimony related to the prior assaults was properly admitted during trial as *res gestae* evidence. Id. at 802-803. Furthermore, the Superior Court concluded the testimony's admission could not have resulted in any unjust prejudice to L.P. since the case ultimately hinged on the issue of whether the jury believed the victim regarding the assaults, which were "presented as a seamless series of acts" and, thus, were either going to be found to have occurred or not. Id. at 803.

In the case sub judice, the indictment charging Appellant with second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor included the relevant language from Section 16-3-655(B) defining the offense with which Appellant was charged, identified the broad time span during which the abuse was alleged to have *continually* and *repeatedly* occurred, provided the victim's name and date of birth, and included a CDR code that specifically alerted Appellant he was being prosecuted pursuant to subsection (B)(2) of the identified statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(B)(2) (explaining a person is guilty of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor if "the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is at least fourteen years of age but who is less than sixteen years of age and the actor is in a position of familial, custodial, or official authority to coerce the victim to submit or is older than the victim"); see also State v. Owens, 346 S.C. 637, 649, 552 S.E.2d 745, 751 (1987) (recognizing the inclusion of a specific reference to the applicable statute in the body of an indictment is sufficient to provide the requisite notice of all elements of the charged offense), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005); State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 243, 119 S.E.2d 735, 739-740 (1961)

(“An indictment is ordinarily sufficient if it is in the language of the statute.”); State v. Bennett, 375 S.C. 165, 172, 650 S.E.2d 490, 494 (Ct. App. 2007) (“CDR codes are four digit numerical codes which represent the criminal offenses created by the South Carolina General Assembly and common law.”). Furthermore, to the extent the indictment was unartfully drafted regarding the timing of the sexual abuse, the specific time the sexual abuse occurred was not an element of the charged offense, and, moreover, the trial judge took steps to amend the indictment to ensure Appellant could only be directly convicted for the acts he committed within the limited period of time in which Victim was at least fourteen years old but under the age of sixteen.⁹ See State v. Wingo, 304 S.C. 173, 175, 403 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Where time is not an essential element of the offense, the indictment need not specifically charge the precise time the offense allegedly occurred.”); see also State v. Thompson, 305 S.C. 496, 501, 409 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct. App. 1991) (“The specific date and time is not an element of the offense of first degree criminal sexual conduct.”). Under those circumstances, the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment was sufficient to provide Appellant with all the required notice as it apprised him of the elements of the charged offenses, informed him of what he was called upon to meet, allowed him to decide whether to plead guilty or stand trial, and enabled the trial judge to know what judgment to pronounce in the event Appellant was convicted. See Edwards v. State, 372 S.C. 493, 496, 642 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2007) (“[A]n indictment is a notice document. The primary purposes of an indictment are to put the defendant on notice of what he is called upon to answer, *i.e.*, to apprise him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to plead

⁹ Significantly, in light of the trial judge’s accurate jury instructions defining the elements of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, the jurors could *only* convict Appellant of that charge if they believed beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant committed a sexual battery upon Victim when she was at least fourteen years old but under the age of sixteen. See State v. Grovenstein, 335 S.C. 347, 353, 517 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1999) (“[J]urors are presumed to follow the law as instructed to them.”).

guilty or stand trial, and to enable the circuit court to know what judgment to pronounce if the defendant is convicted.”); see also Smalls, 336 S.C. at 307, 519 S.E.2d at 796 (“[T]he true test of an indictment’s validity is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.”). As a result, the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment issued in Appellant’s case was valid and sufficient, and the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by declining to quash it as overbroad.¹⁰ Cf. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 102, 654 S.E.2d at 855 (“We reject the notion that a specified time period prevented Tumbleston from adequately preparing his defense to the charges. Reading the indictments objectively from a reasonable person’s view, we conclude they contain the necessary elements of the offenses charged and sufficiently apprise Tumbleston that he must be prepared to address his conduct towards [the victim] between 2001 and June of 2004.”).

Similarly, beyond correctly declining to quash the second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment, the trial judge committed no error by admitting the evidence related to the prior acts of sexual abuse Appellant inflicted upon his victim because—just like the evidence in Berry—that evidence was relevant and admissible common scheme or plan evidence. See Berry, 413 S.C. at 126, 775 S.E.2d at 55 (“The testimony regarding the continuous and similar illegal conduct in this case was probative to establish the CSC with a minor charge.”). That is true because Victim’s testimony regarding the sexual abuse—both prior to and during the time period covered in the indictment following the trial judge’s limiting ruling—did not reveal one or two isolated incidents of abuse but, instead, revealed a *continual, regular, and repeated* pattern

¹⁰ Perhaps tellingly, Appellant has not challenged the trial judge’s denial of the motion to quash the indictment as overly broad. See State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 427, 454 S.E.2d 721, 723 (Ct. App. 1995) (finding unchallenged and unappealed rulings are the law of the case).

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